DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 03/18/2024 03:31 PM Filed 03/18/2024 03:31 PM

GARY N. PROCTOR,

Appellant,

v.

United States of America, *Appellee*.

Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia Criminal Division, No. 2015-CF1-10128 Honorable Judge Dayson.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT GARY N. PROCTOR

Marisa S. West (D.C. Bar No. 1021694) Lakeisha F. Mays* (D.C. Bar No. 1613043) Rimsha Syeda (D.C. Bar No. 90009493) Ausjia Perlow (D.C. Bar No. 90005259) Sidley Austin LLP 1501 K Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20005 Tel: (202) 736-8000

* Arguing Counsel

Fax: (202) 736-8711

Counsel for Appellant Gary N. Proctor

RULE 28(a)(2)(A) STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Mr. Proctor, by and through undersigned counsel, appeals from the final judgment of conviction and sentence in 2015-CF1-10128. A1009.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

This case raises important legal questions about the improper admission of hearsay evidence. It also involves an extensive record, which has generated several hundred pages of transcripts. Appellant Gary Proctor respectfully requests oral argument because he believes that it would substantially aid the Court in deciding critical legal issues embedded in the record.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the trial court erroneously admitted hearsay evidence under the forfeiture-by-wrongdoing exception set out in *Devonshire v. United States*, 691 A.2d 165 (D.C. 1997).
- II. Whether repeated references to Mr. Proctor's prior incarceration and the prosecution's reference to a defense burden of proof denied Mr. Proctor the presumption of innocence.
- III. Whether the prosecution presented sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction for first-degree murder.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a trial in which improperly admitted hearsay and flagrant burden shifting by the prosecution tainted the jury and irreparably damaged the presumption of innocence until proven guilty, Gary Proctor was convicted on four counts, including first degree murder while armed and associated crimes, on August 1, 2019. Mr. Proctor, who is currently serving a life sentence without the possibility of release, appeals each conviction.

At trial, the court erred by permitting the prosecution to introduce improper, prejudicial evidence of other crimes—including hearsay evidence alleging that Mr. Proctor attempted to interfere with a potential witness's testimony in a civil protection order hearing and refusing to grant motions for a mistrial following

repeated references to Mr. Proctor's prior incarceration. Further, the prosecution's flagrant burden shifting arguments that served to abdicate its duty to prove guilt of the charged crimes beyond a reasonable doubt, were not cured by the insufficient instructions provided by the trial court.

Last, the evidence presented at trial was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Proctor was the shooter in this case. The witness testimony that purported to identify Mr. Proctor was unreliable and the scant physical evidence presented at trial was insufficient to support a verdict of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. These errors, individually and cumulatively, warrant acquittal or the reversal of Mr. Proctor's convictions and remand for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. TWO WEEKS BEFORE SHOOTING: JULY 11, 2015 COOKOUT IN PRINCE GEORGE'S COUNTY, MARYLAND

Mr. Proctor and the decedent, Jerome Diggs, were cousins, and in 2015, they were also neighbors who lived across the street from each other. A53; A537, 541. On July 11, 2015, members of the Offutt family hosted a cookout in Prince George's County which was attended by the decedent, Diane Offutt (the decedent's sister), Gary Offutt (Mr. Proctor's father), Mr. Proctor, and several others. *See* A812-14; A616-17. Witness testimony regarding the cookout varied widely. By most accounts, a fight occurred that centered on Ronell Offutt, one of Ms. Offutt's sons (the decedent's nephew). *See e.g.*, A784-87, 789. According to one witness, the

brawl may have started because Ronell Offutt assaulted Gary Offutt. *See* A812-14, 829. Some attendees at the cookout then called upon Mr. Proctor for assistance. A830. According to some witnesses, Mr. Proctor, Gary Offutt, and several others physically defended Gary Offutt against his attacker. *See e.g.*, A784-87. Towards the end of the fight, Anthony Offutt (the decedent's and Gary Offutt's cousin), the host of the cookout, punched the decedent in the face. *See e.g.*, A784-87, 790; A819. Police responded to the incident, but no arrests were made. A56 n.4 (noting police were called to cookout); A74 (conceding no arrests made).

II. ONE WEEK BEFORE SHOOTING: CIVIL PROTECTIVE ORDER PROCEEDINGS

After the July 15, 2015 cookout, Ms. Offutt sent a series of threatening text messages and voicemails to Gary Offutt, because, according to her, Ronnell Offutt was injured in the family feud. *See* A621, 640. In these messages, Ms. Offutt made several baseless allegations, including that Mr. Offutt kidnapped an underaged girl who had gone missing nearby. A646-47. She subsequently admitted to officers that this allegation was untruthful, but stated that she sent the threatening messages because she was afraid that Mr. Offutt (or Mr. Proctor) would hurt her family. A621-24, 646-47.

Concerned about these threatening messages from Ms. Offutt, Gary Offutt filed for a civil protective order on July 20, 2015. A1008; SA1-2. The Superior Court set a hearing on the order for August 3, 2015. SA9. According to Ms. Offutt, she

told the decedent about the upcoming hearing, at which point the decedent informed her that Mr. Proctor had allegedly "offered [the decedent and his girlfriend, Christal Johnson] money not to come to court," but the decedent responded "no, that he was coming." A625.

At the August 3, 2015 CPO hearing, Ms. Offutt consented to the entry of the order of protection, which required that she remain 100 feet from Gary Offutt and not contact him, his girlfriend, or his stepdaughter. A1007; SA18-19. Ms. Offutt did not admit to or contest the underlying conduct, and neither she nor any witnesses testified on her behalf. *See generally*, SA10-17.¹

III. ONE TO TWO DAYS BEFORE SHOOTING: JULY 25, 2019 FIGHT WITH "MR. SUNNY," "MR. TIM," AND CHRISTAL JOHNSON

On July 25 or 26, 2019, the decedent allegedly punched and shoved "Mr. Sunny," A211-14, a man who lived with the decedent and his girlfriend, A152-53. He also hit another man present at the time, "Mr. Tim." A820-21. Decedent apparently assaulted the two men either because he believed his girlfriend was having an affair with Mr. Sunny or because Mr. Sunny was supplying her with drugs. *See* A152-53; A820-21, 833. The decedent's girlfriend, Christal Johnson, who was

¹ The trial court took judicial notice of the docket in 2015 CPO 002825. A882. On appeal, Mr. Proctor moves separately to supplement the record and for this court to take judicial notice of the CPO petition, notice, and order; and the transcript of the August 3, 2015 hearing in that case.

² The full names of Mr. Sunny and Mr. Tim were not referenced at trial.

present during the altercation, left their home to stay at a friend's house because she was upset with the decedent. A821.

IV. THE SHOOTING

On July 27, 2015, at approximately 4:52 pm, the decedent was shot inside of his residence at 1360 First Street, Southwest, in the District of Columbia. *See* A1. Rather than dialing 911, the decedent called his sister, Ms. Offutt, after being shot. A544. According to Ms. Offutt, the decedent stated, "Gary came in here and shot me," then said "little Gary." *Id.* After the call, the decedent crawled to his backyard, where he was found by neighbors, who attempted to render aid. A167-68, 171-74. Meanwhile, Ms. Offutt called 911 and reported the shooting, identifying her cousin, Gary Proctor, as the shooter. A544-46; Tr. Ex. 305 at 3:20-3:27.

Two witnesses on the scene heard the decedent attempt to identify the shooter. According to his neighbor, Myia Crews, who was rendering aid to the decedent, the decedent said "Little Gary" shot him. A179. According to Metropolitan Police Officer Brian Taylor, the first responding officer, the decedent said "Little Man" shot him. A245, 247. Little Man is the name of the decedent's dog. A312.

Shortly after identifying his dog as the shooter, the decedent lost consciousness. A247. He was pronounced dead that evening at 5:37 pm. A884. An autopsy revealed that the decedent had been shot seven times, resulting in his death.

A991, 993-96. The toxicology report showed alcohol, cocaine, and THC in his system at the time of death. A1002-04.

V. THE INVESTIGATION

Based on the murky "identifications" by the decedent, on July 28, 2015, police executed a search warrant on Mr. Proctor's residence shared with his mother at 1359 First Street, Southwest. *See* A81-83. During the execution of the warrant, police recovered .40 caliber ammunition. A661-64. A firearm was not recovered. The search of Mr. Proctor's vehicle recovered a list with names and numerical values. A1006. The list included "Diggs," which the prosecution argued at trial referred to the decedent. *Id.* There were nine other names on the list, including "Sunny" and "Crystal." *Id.*

Police conducted a forensic analysis of Mr. Proctor's phone and found photos allegedly depicting Mr. Proctor holding a gun. A849-51, 873-74. Police also obtained cell site records which showed that around the time of the murder, Mr. Proctor's cell phone pinged cell towers near Mr. Proctor's residence, which was across the street from where the decedent was killed, A699-702; *see* A987, and then near his father's home. A703; *see* A989.

Mr. Proctor was arrested and charged with the murder of the decedent on July 28, 2015. A1.

VI. PRE-TRIAL MOTIONS

A. *Drew* Evidence

Mr. Proctor moved *in limine* to exclude evidence of uncharged conduct. A6-9. The prosecution opposed the motion. A10-17, 18-24. The trial court granted in part and denied in part Mr. Proctor's motion, admitting evidence regarding the July 2015 cookout and Mr. Proctor's alleged drug dealing, A32-33, but excluding other evidence related to alleged prior assaults of the decedent in 2012, A39-41, 47-49.

B. Devonshire Evidence

The prosecution moved *in limine* to admit hearsay statements allegedly heard by Ms. Offutt regarding the decedent's out-of-court statements that Mr. Proctor had attempted to dissuade the decedent from testifying on Ms. Offutt's behalf in the 2015 CPO hearing. A50-60. The trial court granted the motion on the basis that *Devonshire* was applicable to CPO hearings and to cases in which a witness is killed for the benefit of a third party, A72, 79, and the testimony was elicited at trial. A624-26.

VII. TRIAL

At trial, the prosecution offered three motives for why Mr. Proctor would fatally harm his cousin. First, it presented evidence that the decedent allegedly engaged in a drug transaction with Mr. Proctor and owed Mr. Proctor \$120 at the time of his death. *See* A889-90. Second, the prosecution offered evidence that the

decedent had allegedly argued with Mr. Proctor some weeks before the shooting because the decedent allegedly told Mr. Proctor that he could no longer sell drugs from the decedent's house. *See* A781-82; A891-94. As a final motive, the prosecution presented evidence that Mr. Proctor and the decedent were allegedly involved in a long-standing family feud which centered around Gary Offutt. *See* A894-97.

Clearly prejudicing Mr. Proctor, the government's case alluded to Mr. Proctor's prior incarceration in three instances. First, Kevin Diggs, the decedent's brother and the first witness to testify, informed the jury that Mr. Proctor had been "locked up." A130-31. Mr. Proctor's trial counsel objected and moved for a mistrial, and though the objection was sustained, the damage had been done. Id. The trial court denied the motion for a mistrial. A336-345. Second, during the testimony of Metropolitan Police Officer Thomas Coughlin regarding items recovered during the search of Mr. Proctor's home, the prosecution published to the jury photos showing Mr. Proctor obviously in prison posing with other inmates. See A657. Mr. Proctor's trial counsel asked to approach, objected to the photos, and requested they be taken down, A658, and not sent back to the jury, A666. The court struck the photos and the prosecution agreed to withdraw them, A668. Third, Christal Johnson testified that she had "met Gary shortly after he got released from prison." A797. Again, Mr. Proctor's trial counsel objected, and renewed his motion for a mistrial, A798-99, but

evidence that Mr. Proctor had been incarcerated had already been heard by the jury.

Again, the trial court denied the motion for a mistrial. A875-77.

There was very little physical evidence presented at trial, and that which was presented was weak, at best. The prosecution's firearms expert testified that the ammunition recovered from Mr. Proctor's home—Smith and Wesson bullets manufactured by Hornady (which the expert testified was one of the five largest ammunition manufacturers in the United States)—were consistent with that used in the shooting. A377-80, 400-04. The firearms expert also testified that the firearm depicted in the photos recovered from Mr. Proctor's phone was *one of four types* that could have been used in the shooting. A393-94, 406-14.

According to the prosecution's expert, most of the DNA discovered at the scene of the shooting that could be compared matched the decedent. A483, 496-500. For one sample, the DNA expert testified that Mr. Proctor could not be excluded. A503. Mr. Proctor was not a match for any of the DNA recovered. A483, 496-500.

Mr. Proctor's trial counsel, Mr. Kiersh, did not present a defense case. In closing arguments, Mr. Kiersh emphasized and relied upon the government's burden of proof and pointed to weaknesses in the prosecution's evidence establishing identity: the lack of a gun or eyewitnesses to the shooting; the decedent's violent altercations with others (Anthony Offutt, Ms. Johnson, Mr. Tim, Mr. Sunny) close in time to the shooting; credibility issues with the witnesses, including Ms. Offutt;

and the conflicting identifications of the shooter as "Little Gary" and "Little Man," the decedent's dog. A919-37.

In its rebuttal, the prosecution unconstitutionally described the burden of proof as a seesaw:

You need to find the elements, and we have met our burden in terms of giving you this evidence. And how have we met our burden? When we talk about a "burden," you think of something heavy; right? You think of the weight. It's the weight of the evidence. You are the judges of the facts.

And you now get to weigh all of this evidence. We can talk until we're blue in the face, but you have the job of deciding how weighty this evidence is. Now, right above Judge Dayson -- and you see it up there -- are the scales of justice. They've been there the whole trial, they've been here for decades. The reason that they're up is because that's what your job is: You take the evidence, and you weigh it.

And I submit to you that when you look at the scales of justice, after you've considered all of the evidence together -- and I say "together," not one by one. You're going to put them all on the scale -- that scale is going to look like a seesaw -- right? -- with maybe a ten-year-old on one end and a two-year-old on the other. It's going to be all of the way to one side. That's real, hard evidence. That's how the government has met its burden.

. . .

If it was just her, would that be enough? **The seesaw** would be pretty close to the ground already, but there's more. . . .

A942-43, 951 (emphasis added). Mr. Kiersh objected to the prosecution's reference to a seesaw at the bench and moved for a mistrial, arguing that such imagery improperly suggests to the jury that Mr. Proctor has a burden to outweigh the government's evidence. A955-58. The trial court denied his request for a mistrial, A970-71, and offered a general jury instruction as an attempt to cure the uncurable argument by the government, A957-58.

Through trial counsel, Mr. Proctor also moved for a mistrial on the basis that the prosecution improperly introduced evidence of Mr. Proctor's prior incarceration. A955-57. Again, Mr. Proctor's motion for a mistrial was denied. A968-70.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Proctors convictions should be reversed for three reasons.

First, the trial court erroneously admitted hearsay evidence under the forfeiture-by-wrongdoing ("Devonshire") doctrine despite that (1) there was insufficient evidence to show that Mr. Proctor intended to prevent the decedent's testimony, either for himself or the benefit of his father; and (2) as a matter of law, the decedent was not a witness against Mr. Proctor in any proceeding or investigation.

Second, Mr. Proctor was denied a fair trial because (1) improper evidence of Mr. Proctor's prior conviction and incarceration was put before the jury; and (2) the prosecution invited the jury to consider the lack of defense evidence in its rebuttal.

Accordingly, Mr. Proctor was denied his constitutional right to the presumption of innocence until proven guilty, and his conviction is improperly based on a general criminal character rather than evidence of the charged crimes.

Third, no reasonable jury could have convicted Mr. Proctor based on the actual evidence presented at trial. The available testimonial evidence that the government purported connected Mr. Proctor to the charged crimes was defective. The key identification evidence came from the unreliable statements of the decedent, who was under the influence of alcohol and other drugs, relayed to the jury through ear witnesses who did not see the shooting. Because the decedent was gravely injured and under the influence of perception-modifying substances at the time of the identifications, his statements were insufficient to show guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Mr. Proctor's convictions should therefore be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING PREJUDICIAL HEARSAY UNDER DEVONSHIRE.

Over Mr. Proctor's objection, the trial court admitted statements purportedly made by the decedent asserting that Mr. Proctor had attempted to dissuade the decedent from testifying in an upcoming CPO hearing to which neither Mr. Proctor nor the decedent were a party. *See* A50-60; A61-71; A72-80.

This Court's decision in *Devonshire v. United States* canonizes the forfeitureby-wrongdoing doctrine under which a defendant may forfeit the right to object to the admission of out-of-court statements on confrontation or hearsay grounds because the defendant: (1) kills (or otherwise procures the unavailability of) (2) a witness (3) in order to prevent that witness's future testimony. 691 A.2d 165, 168-69 (D.C. 1997).³ The proponent of the hearsay must prove each of these elements by a preponderance of the evidence. *Devonshire*, 691 A.2d at 169; *Roberson v. United States*, 961 A.2d 1092, 1095 (D.C. 2008). The trial court considered whether *Devonshire* applies for the benefit of a third party (*i.e.*, Mr. Proctor acting on behalf of his father) and whether a CPO hearing would be the type of proceeding that would implicate the *Devonshire* doctrine. *See* A61-71; A72-80.

Where, as here, the appellant opposed the motion *in limine* to admit the hearsay,⁴ this Court reviews the erroneous admission of evidence for abuse of discretion, reviewing the trial court's underlying factual findings for clear error and its legal conclusions *de novo*. *Jenkins v. United States*, 80 A.3d 978, 989 (D.C. 2013).

In its motion, the prosecution argued that Mr. Proctor killed the decedent to prevent his testimony at the CPO hearing because it would be damaging to Mr.

³ The intent element recognized by this Court is articulated in FRE 804(b)(6) and further described as a constitutional requirement in *Giles v. California*, 554 U.S. 353, 374 (2008). *See Hairston v. United States*, 264 A.3d 642, 646 (D.C. 2021).

⁴ Mr. Proctor's counsel orally delivered his opposition to the government's motion *in limine* to admit the hearsay statements under *Devonshire*. A62-65.

Proctor's father or to Mr. Proctor himself in some future criminal proceeding. *See* A56. However, the prosecution failed to show that it was more likely than not that Mr. Proctor intended to prevent the decedent's future testimony or colluded with his father for the same. *See Ward v. United States*, 55 A.3d 840, 849 (D.C. 2012) (holding that evidence was sufficient to find that third-party colluded to kill a witness *at defendant's behest*). And it failed to show that the decedent was a witness against Mr. Proctor within the meaning of *Devonshire*. The court therefore abused its discretion in admitting the hearsay statements.

A. The Trial Court Erred in Finding that Mr. Proctor Intended to Prevent the Decedent's Testimony.

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