#### BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

## DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 08/01/2024 01:39 PM

No. 22-CF-349

GARY N. PROCTOR,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB JOHN P. MANNARINO ALICIA LONG

- \* MICHAEL E. MCGOVERN D.C. Bar #1018476 Assistant United States Attorneys
- \* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Michael.McGovern2@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2015-CF1-10128

#

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

The government responded that *Devonshire* was applicable because the timing of the events showed that one of Proctor's underlying motives in killing Diggs was "to prevent [Diggs] from providing damaging testimony either to [Proctor] or to his father" (6/27/19 Tr. 95-97).<sup>21</sup> The government highlighted that, given the nature of the assault on Ronnell (which resulted in "pretty serious injuries" for which he was hospitalized), Proctor's father "could have been potentially looking at criminal charges" (*id.* at 97).<sup>22</sup> Additionally, the government pointed out that Proctor's own involvement in the assault on Ronnell and Diggs at the cookout meant the threat of Diggs's testimony "was implicating [Proctor] himself" (*id.*).

The trial court admitted Diggs's statement to Diane concerning Proctor's request that he not testify under the *Devonshire* forfeiture-by-wrongdoing doctrine (7/15/19 Tr. 24). Specifically, the court found that *Devonshire* applied both (1) where an individual procured the witness's absence for the benefit of another person

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The government conceded that this was not the sole motive, but instead was "the straw the broke the camel's back" where animosity among the family had been growing (6/27/19 Tr. 96).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> The government noted that even if sworn testimony at the CPO hearing was not given in a criminal proceeding, it "could be used later to further a criminal case" even if the testifying witness later become uncooperative (6/27/19 Tr. 95).

and (2) where the proceeding at which the absent witness was expected to testify was a CPO proceeding (*id.* at 97-101, 17-18, 24). The trial court rejected Proctor's argument that forfeiture-by-wrongdoing applied only when the underlying proceeding from which the witness was absent concerned pending criminal charges—noting that other courts had even gone so far as to "state[] explicitly that the forfeiture princip[le] applies even to situations where there's no ongoing proceeding which the Declarant was scheduled to testify" (6/27/19 Tr. 98-99 (citing *United States v. Stewart*, 485 F.3d 666 (2d Cir. 2007)). The trial court found, however, that it did not need to go so far given that "a CPO seems . . . to be somewhat quasi criminal" and that the testimony that Diggs would have provided (and that Proctor's murder therefore prevented) concerned "an assault that at least on it's [sic] face appeared to be eligible for some sort of felony charge" (*id.* at 99-100).

# B. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

"Under the forfeiture-by-wrongdoing doctrine, a defendant forfeits his Sixth Amendment right to be confronted by a witness against him, as well as his objection to the introduction of hearsay, if he wrongfully procured the unavailability of that witness with the purpose of preventing the witness from testifying." *Roberson v. United States*, 961 A.2d 1092, 1095 & n.6 (D.C. 2008) (citing *Devonshire*, 691 A.2d at 168-69; *Giles*, 554 U.S. at 366-67). As the Supreme Court made clear in *Giles*,

the forfeiture-by-wrongdoing exception "applie[s] only when the defendant engaged in conduct designed to prevent the witness from testifying." 554 U.S. at 359-61. Accordingly, the government must demonstrate that: (1) the defendant engaged in wrongdoing that caused the witness's unavailability; and (2) he did so "to prevent the witness from testifying" *Id.* at 361. As to the purpose prong . . . [t]he government is not required to show that a defendant's sole purpose was to silence the declarant." *Hairston v. United States*, 264 A.3d 642, 646 (D.C. 2021). The government need only establish these "predicate facts" by "a preponderance of the evidence." *Roberson*, 961 A.2d at 1095-96 & n.8 (quoting *Devonshire*, 691 A.2d at 169).

This Court reviews the trial court's rulings on the admissibility of hearsay statements under the forfeiture-by-wrongdoing doctrine for an abuse of discretion. *Hairston*, 264 A.3d at 646-47 (citing *Jenkins v. United States*, 80 A.3d 978, 997 (D.C. 2013), and *Roberson*, 961 A.2d at 1097). In so doing, this Court "accept[s] the factual findings on which the rulings rest so long as they are not clearly erroneous." *Jenkins*, 80 A.3d at 989; *accord Roberson*, 961 A.2d at 1097.

#### C. Discussion

Recognizing the government had the burden to show by a preponderance of the evidence that Proctor murdered Diggs at least in part to obtain his unavailability as a witness at Big Gary and Diane's CPO proceedings in order for the forfeitureby-wrongdoing doctrine to apply, the trial court correctly found the doctrine was applicable and admitted Diggs's statements to his sister about his conversation with Proctor (see 6/27/19 Tr. 93; 7/15/19 Tr. 17, 24).<sup>23</sup> The trial court did not clearly err when it determined that at least one motive for Proctor's murder of Diggs was to prevent his testimony at the CPO proceedings. Rather, the record contained ample circumstantial evidence supporting a reasonable inference that one of Proctor's motivations was to prevent damaging testimony against both him and his father during those proceedings. The unchallenged factual proffer before the court included information that (1) Big Gary and Proctor were both involved in an assault against Diane's son Ronnell, which resulted in Ronnell's hospitalization and also caused injury to Diggs; (2) Big Gary filed for a CPO after receiving multiple texts from Diane, who was angry at him for jumping her son; (3) a hearing on the CPO was scheduled for August 3, 2015; (4) Proctor (who knew Diggs had appeared to testify against his family in court on at least one prior occasion) asked Diggs not to testify at that hearing at least four days before he killed him; (5) Diggs told Diane about this conversation three days before his murder; and (6) Proctor killed Diggs one week before the August 3 hearing. It was therefore reasonable for the trial court to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Because Diggs's statements to his sister were non-testimonial, Proctor's Sixth Amendment confrontation rights were not implicated, and the sole issue before this Court is whether the trial court correctly admitted Diggs's statements under the forfeiture by wrongdoing exception to the hearsay rule. *See Ward*, 55 A.3d at 850 & n.10 (citing *Johnson v. United States*, 17 A.3d 621, 627 (D.C. 2011)).

infer that one of Proctor's motivations for killing Diggs was to prevent Diggs from providing testimony against him and his father at the August 3 CPO hearing. *See Hairston*, 264 A.3d at 646-49 (finding trial court reasonably inferred that "at least a partial motive" for defendant's murder of deceased was prevention of testimony at CPO hearing based on (1) the timing of the CPO proceedings in relation to the murder, (2) potential negative consequences defendant could face based on the proceedings, and (3) statements indicative of defendant's desire to have decedent abandon CPO proceedings).

Proctor's argument (at 16-17) that the trial court clearly erred because its factual findings necessarily relied upon the very hearsay statement whose admissibility was at issue to show Proctor knew of Diggs's intent to testify at the CPO hearing has already been rejected by this Court. *See Jenkins*, 80 A.3d at 995-97 (recognizing that, "[a]s a general proposition, a trial court is permitted to rely on hearsay (whether or not it falls within a recognized exception) in ruling on the admissibility of evidence," and refusing to expand narrow carve-out from this rule to forfeiture-by-wrongdoing determinations). Indeed, Proctor cites no authority to the contrary (see Br. 16-17). Moreover, although Diggs's statement was the only direct evidence showing Proctor's state of mind regarding the CPO proceedings, the court's findings were also supported by ample circumstantial evidence regarding the events leading up to the CPO, the family dynamics at play, and the timing of Digg's

murder in relation to the upcoming hearing to permit a reasonable inference that prevention of Diggs's testimony was, in part, a motivation for his murder. *See id.* at 996 ("Generally speaking, it is appropriate and common for judges to consider the substance of proffered hearsay together with independent evidence in determining whether a hearsay exception is available; and this court has implicitly approved such consideration in its forfeiture-by-wrongdoing cases. . . . [W]e perceive no principled reason to forbid it *per se*.").

Proctor also misconstrues the trial court's findings when he argues (at 17-18) that the court was confused regarding the factual background of the CPO proceedings. As an initial matter, Proctor's argument is inapt because the trial court's legal finding that forfeiture-by-wrongdoing was applicable to the wrongful prevention of witness testimony at a CPO hearing did not rely upon which party the witness's testimony supported (see 6/27/19 Tr. 98-101, 7/15/19 Tr. 17). Moreover, the trial court's findings made clear that it understood the real substantive issue animating why Diggs's murder qualified as forfeiture by wrongdoing—it was intended to prevent testimony that threatened to implicate Proctor and his father in "an assault that at least on it's face appeared to be eligible for some sort of felony assault charge" (id. at 100). The court, therefore, correctly recognized that the stakes—with respect to Proctor and his father's exposure to criminal liability—was

more than "a nasty phone call or a push or a slap" (*id.*).<sup>24</sup> Proctor's argument also ignores government interchanges with the court at the later July 17, 2014, hearing making clear that the court understood, before ruling on the motion, that Diggs's sister was the respondent rather than the petitioner in the CPO proceedings and was seeking Diggs's testimony to explain the true nature of the assault against her son—the reason she sent the text messages on which Big Gary's CPO petition was based (see 7/15/19 Tr. 20-21 ("[PROSECUTOR]: . . . So [Diane] sends these texts and in response the defendant's father files a CPO actually against her. . . . [S]he talks to the decedent and says hey, I'm now having to go to court . . . I have to go to the CPO

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Proctor's attempt (at 18-19) to distinguish *Ward* is unpersuasive. First, the government's factual proffer made clear that Proctor himself was one of several people who attacked Ronnell, and therefore reliance upon conspiracy liability to implicate Proctor's interest in Diggs's testimony was not necessary (see A53, A56-57 & n.4; 6/27/19 Tr. 97 ("[Diggs] also was implicating the Defendant himself. Not just the Defendant's father and it's at that point in time that the Defendant approached the Decedent and encouraged him not to testify against both the Defendant and the Defendant's father."); 7/15/19 Tr. 21 ("[Proctor] asked [Diggs] not to testify against both [Proctor] and his father Big Gary.")). Moreover, in Ward this Court stated, without qualification, that "[w]e discern no reason why the doctrine should not apply where . . . the trial court finds that a defendant procured a witness's death to benefit some other person," and did not require a conspiracy to murder for application of the doctrine, though one existed in that case. 55 A.3d at 849 (quoting United States v. (Angela) Johnson, 495 F.3d 951, 971 (8th Cir. 2007), where defendant sought unavailability of witnesses against boyfriend rather than herself). Under Ward, only a finding that the purpose of the killing was to prevent testimony is required; there is no additional requirement of a conspiracy between the murderer and the beneficiary of the killing. See id. (finding Giles requires only that defendant be on trial for killing victim and it be shown the killing was "for the purpose of preventing testimony").

hearing. Will you testify in my behalf about what really is the result of this assault at the hearing. THE COURT: So that's on the 24th. [PROSECUTOR]: Yes. COURT: Okay.").

Proctor's argument (at 19-20) that the forfeiture-by-wrongdoing exception was not applicable because there was no reasonably foreseeable criminal proceeding at which Diggs would be a witness is wrong both as a legal and a factual matter. First, this court has already approvingly applied the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine in the context of a defendant's murder of a witness expected to testify at a CPO proceeding in *Hairston*, where the defendant's concern about the decedent's testimony arose from the potential he would lose visitation with his daughter rather than fear of criminal prosecution. *See* 264 A.3d at 646-49. Similarly, multiple circuits have recognized,

[t]he text of Rule 804(b)(6)<sup>[25]</sup> requires only that the defendant intend to render the declarant unavailable 'as a witness.' The text does not require that the declarant would otherwise be a witness at any *particular* trial. . . . A defendant who wrongfully and intentionally renders a declarant unavailable as a witness *in any proceeding* forfeits the right to exclude, on hearsay grounds, the declarant's statements at that proceeding *and any subsequent proceeding*.

United States v. Gray, 405 F.3d 227, 241 (4th Cir. 2005) (first emphasis in original, others added), quoted in Stewart, 485 F.3d at 672. Accordingly, Proctor's successful

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Rule 804(b)(6) codifies the common-law doctrine of forfeiture by wrongdoing. *United States v. Gray*, 405 F.3d 227, 241 (4th Cir. 2005).

attempt to prevent Diggs's from testifying at the August 3 CPO hearing fits comfortably within the forfeiture doctrine articulated in *Hairston* and *Gray*.

Proctor's citation (at 19) to United States v. Houlihan, 92 F.3d 1271 (1st Cir. 1996), does not require a different result. Rather, in Houlihan, the First Circuit found that forfeiture arose from the defendant's "intent to silence" a witness with respect to future proceedings, not on the nature or pendency of the proceedings the defendant sought to obstruct. See id. at 1279-81. Even if Houlihan (which is not binding on this Court) is read more narrowly to restrict application of the forfeiture doctrine only where the purpose of the defendant is to silence a witness about criminal conduct—a restriction not found in *Hairston*, *Giles*, or the text of Rule 804(b)(6) forfeiture would be applicable. As the trial court recognized, the threat animating Proctor's desire to silence Diggs arose from his concern that Diggs would testify about his and his father's commission of "an assault that at least on its face appeared to be eligible for some sort of felony assault charge" (see 6/27/19 Tr. 100). The proffer here was sufficient to establish the factual bases for forfeiture even under a restrictive reading of *Houlihan*. See 92 F.3d at 1280.

Even assuming the trial court erred in admitting Diggs's statements to his sister, any error was harmless. *See Grimes v. United States*, 252 A.3d 901, 919-20 (D.C. 2021) (erroneous admission of hearsay statement subject to harmless error standard under *Kotteakos v. United States*, 328 U.S. 750, 765 (1946)). The

government's identification evidence was overwhelming, and included (1) Diggs's identification of Proctor as his murderer to two separate individuals, (2) eyewitness testimony that Proctor ran from the scene of the murder after the gunshots, (3) cell site data placing Proctor near the scene at the time of the murder, (4) Proctor's possession of the distinctive type of ammunition used to kill Diggs, (5) Proctor's possession of one of the four specific types of gun that must have been used, (6) Proctor's attempt to get rid of his cellular phone the morning after the murder after deleting incriminating photos from the device, and (7) the existence of multiple other motives for Proctor to kill Diggs arising from their drug dealing relationship. Accordingly, this Court can find "with fair assurance . . . that the judgment was not substantially swayed by the error." Kotteakos, 328 U.S. at 765; see Giles v. United States, 432 A.2d 739, 743-48 (D.C. 1981) (decedent's hearsay statement defendant stabbed him on a prior occasion was harmless given other evidence of hostile relationship and strong evidence of guilt); Goines v. United States, 905 A.2d 795, 799-802 (D.C. 2006) (destruction of property victim's testimony about defendant's two prior assaults on her was harmless); *United States v. Meserve*, 271 F.3d 314, 319-20, 330 (1st Cir. 2001) (robbery victim's hearsay statement that she "thought [defendant] might have been the robber" was harmless even where it may have given the jury a greater reason to credit other testimony because it "was but a small contribution to the font of evidence" of guilt).

## II. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Denied Proctor's Multiple Requests for a Mistrial.

### A. Additional Background

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